FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 01/08/2025 10:15 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1035616

No. 1035616

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON.

Raspondent

1

ERTC CHARLES BANFIELD.

Petitionen.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
TREATED AS A PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mr. Eric Barfield Petitioner.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mr. Eric Charles Banfield asks
this Court to accept neview of the decision designated in Part B of this Motion.

B. DECTSTON

Petitioner seeks neview of the Count of Appeals decision in APPENDIX-A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In Whether the trial court abused it's discretion by denying motion formietrial following testimony of alleged uncharged conduct that should have been excluded under ER 404(B)?

2. Whether Petitioner received

Ineffective Assistance of Coursel, indeprivation of the sixth Amendment
to the United States Constitution?

3. Whether the 23 month delay in Petitioner's case deny his right to a speedy trial in deprivation of the - sixth Amendment to the United - states Constitution?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procederal Facts

the State ahanged Enic Banfield.

by information with felony violation of a protection order (domestic violence).

and fourth deance assault. CP 3-5.

VRPA. Petitioner was arraigned on -Avoust 17. 2020, and Irial was set for the week December 15, 2020. VRP. 7. At a readiness hearing on December 8, 2020, the court struck the trialon the basis that all trials had beencareelled for the next week , and the trial date was reassigned. VRPID. CP at 11. When the count reset that trial date to March 9, 2021, Petitioner made timely objection URP 10-11, 13. Patitioner also cited a conflict of. interest with his defense coursel and requested substitution. Id.

Still represented by Sean Kelly-

the matter same on for readinesshearing on March 2, 2021. URP 16. The March 2021 jury frial was cancelled. and the trial date was continued -ON JUNE 1. 2021. Id. ON this date the trial count found good cause to continue the trial date due to the unavailability of the State's witnesses. VRP 19, 20-22, 29. Petitioner made timely objection although his counsel did Not object. VRP 20, 22-23.

The total court set total for the - week of July 13, 2021. RP30. Patitioner - was out on bail. RP 67.

ON July 1, 2021. the count heard

defense counsel's motion for appointment of New Counsel, and Ted DeBray was - assigned RP39. Mr. Banfield timely - absected to the New commencement date and to the new commencement of Mr. - Kelly, the basis of which was - described as "a conflict." VRP 38-40: CP 20.

ON July 8 - 2021. Petitioner appeared with New Coursel and the trial wasset for the week of september 14.
2022. VRP 42. Petitioner made timelyobsection. VRP 44: CP 21.

Trial was reset on July 8-2021 for a readiness hearing on - September 7, 2021, and for frial on-September 14, 2021. VRP #2. Due to LOVID, the trial was set for-December 2, 2021. CP 24-25: RP 48.

ON December 2, 2021, Petitioner reported symptoms of a heart attack. RP 52-53. The trial was reset for -December 9, 2021. VRP 53. At the-December 9th, hearing, the court set a New trial date of February 8, 2022. VRP 59; CP 28. Mr. Barfield Noted his objection to the "follows of my fast and speedy trial rights." VRP bo. The State filed amended information on December 2, 2021. CP 32-34.

ON February 1. 2022. the count Lound-300d Cause to continue trial due to-COVID. CP 35. Eventually the count Set a New trial date for ITUNE 28. -2022. RP 67, 75: CP 41-42.

DN JUNE 28, 2022, the day before trial, the trial court found good cause to grant a request for continuance by the State due to continuance by CP 60-61. Mr. Banfield made timely-objection. RP 93-94. ON July 19, 2022 the case was set for trial on-July 26, 2022. RP 97: CP 62.

A. MOTION IN LIMINE AND-ER 404(b) EVIDENCE

The case was heard by Judge-

Patricia Fassett on July 26, 27, and... 28, 2012. RP 100-327; CP 63-68.

The state filed it's secondamended information on July 26, 2022.
CP 69-71.

of statements through Kelso Policeofficer Shavda Panah by Kim Curtis. that her "head hunt" and that "he hits. so hard" as excited utterances. RP 199.

The Defense moved to exclude
any reference to mion or subsequent

domestic violence incidents under ER
404(6) and ER 403. RP199, 203. The trial

court allowed testimons that law
enforcement were aware of the NO-

contact order, and that they "have responded before." RP 204. The Courtlater clarified that the officers may
not testify that they have been to the
apartment a specific number of times
in the past. RP 207.

2. Trial Testimony

kim Cuntis testified she lived.

in an apartment in Kelson washington.

RP 217. The patitioner was her
boyfriend for Jen years. RP220. She

also testified that their relationship

was "pretty stormy" and that they
used to drink a fifth of alcohol
between the two of them every-

day. RP 220.

A NO CONTACT order was filedassainst Mn. Banfield on March 23.
2020. RP 205. Ms. Curtis stated shedid not have a clean recollection ofthe events of August 15, 2020, because
she was highly infoxicated RP 222-223.

Ms. Curtis's Neighbor, Ashley Gordon, testified that on the day in question, she called 911 after she heard Ms.
Curtis Knocking on her door, and yelling for someone to dall 911. RP 217.

Kelso police responded to a report of domestic violence at ms. Curtis's apartment. RP 238. Officer Foley -

said that after police annived he heard a love male voice from inside Ms .-Quatis's apartment. RP 238. 264. officer Panah said she could hear a male and female voice ansuins inside Ms .-Curtis's apartment. RP 254. officer -Foley knocked on the door for several. minutes but did Not receive a response. AP 240. Police stated they would knock the door down it Ms ... Cuntis did not soon it. RP224. -Ms .-Curtis opened the doors and allowed Police to come inside. RP 240.

Officer Foley said that he hadpreviously responded to that apartment. and was aware of a no contact order. regarding the occupants. RP 238-239

officer Foley said that when theyentered the apartment. Ms Cuntis seemed upset, and appeared to be intoxicated and had blood " on the right side of her lip. RP 240-41. After siving permission tosearch, officers did not find anyone inside RP 2412, 256. Police found several items belonging to Mr. Banfield inside of the apartment. RP 242, 256, 264.

Ms. Curtis gave permission to access the balany closet. RP266. Police said they found mr. Banfield inside the stonage aloset. RP 247.

Defense Loursel failed to ask any questions on cross examination. with the exception of brief enossexamination of one witness, and
nested without calling witnesses.

RP 219, 231, 261, 271, 285.

a. MOTION FOR MISTRIAL

Ms. Curtis testified that she

let the police in and told them that.

her head hunt, and testified that she
"thought" it was caused by Mr. Bawfield.

RP 224

During Ms. Cuntis's testimany, the

Q: Do you know why your head-

A: I'm sure it was from Eric.

Q: Why are you sure that wasfrom Enic? A: Because it harrened quite often.

Q: But in this instance , didit happen then.

A: Yes.

Q: Do You Know how Eric hunt Your head?

A: I don't remember.

RP 224-25.

Defense counsel objected

on the basis that the count's nuling

on motions in limine that testimonynegarding domestic violence on any other

occasion was not remitted. RP 225-26.

The prosecution responded that it

quickly moved on after her statement.

RP 226-27. The count devied defense-

counsel's motion for mistrial on the ground that the state quickly moved on. RP 229.

The jury found Mr. Banfield Suilty of residential burstans (DV). Lelany.

Violation of a No contact order (DV).

and misdemeanor violation of a No
Contact order. RP 323-24; CP 126-28.

The Court imposed a total sentence of lop manths. RP 388; CP 148.

E. ARG-LIMENT

1. THE TRIAL COLLET ABUSED ITS
DISCRETION BY DENVING AMOTION FOR MISTRIALD—
FOLLOWING TESTIMONY—
OF ALLEGED UNCHARGED CONDUCT
SHOULD HAVE BEEN EXCLUDED
UNDER ER 404(B)

The trial count erned when it.

failed to grant defense motion for mistrial after the alkesed victim testified
she was "sure" her head was hunt as a
result of Mr. Banfield's actions "because
it happened quite often." RP. 224.

Because this evidence strongly—
suggests a history of domestic violence,
defense counsel objected outside thePresence of the jury. RP 225-29.

Ms. Curtis's testimony characterized Mr.Banfield as having animinal propensity toassault Ms. Curtis. Defense counsel
connectly and immediately sought a mistrial for the error. RP 225.

The trial court responded "I - don't think there was any intention by Mr. Laurine or the State to -

elicit any information that was outside.

the count's rulings on any of the—

preliminary motions." and that the State

had "quickly move [d] on." and deviced the

motion for mistrial. RP 229. In this—

regard the trial count abused it's

discretion by denying the motion for—

mistrial because the sury heard—

extremely presudicial evidence.

The devial of a mistrial motion.

i's reviewed for abuse of discretion. See
State v. Rodriguez, 146 wn. 2d 260, 45
P.3d 541 (2002). A trial court abuses
it's discretion if it's decision is manifestly

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds.

State v. Allen 159 wn. 2d 1, 10, 147 A3d 581-

(200lo).

A trial count has broad discretionto rule on innegularities during trialbecause it is in the best position todetermine whether the irregularity. Caused prejudice. State v. Wade, 186 WN. APP. 749, 773, 346 P.3d 838 (2015); Stake V. Lewis 130 WW. 2d 700, 707, 927. P. 2d 235 (1996). A mistrial is proper when a trial innegularity is so presudicial that it newders the trial unfair and Nothing short of a New trial Law ensurethat the defendant will be tried fairly. State v. ITOhNSON, 124 WW. 2d 57, 76, 873 Po 2d 514 (1994).

IN considering whether a mistrialmotion should have been granted, a neviewine about considers (1) the seriousness of the claimed innegularity, (2) whetherthe information imparted was aummulative of other properly admitted evidence , and (3) whether admission of the illesitimate evidence can be cured by a jury. instruction. State v. Escalona, 49 WN. -APP. 254, 255, 742 P. 2d 190 (1987); State V. Post, 118 WN. Zd 596, 620, 826 P. 2d 172, 837 P. 2d 599 (1992).

In the instart case, the state.

Purposefully violated the pretrial order.

Therefore all factors enumerated under the above favored a mistrial.

Secondly, Ms Curtis's festimens was Not dimulative of other evidence. Although the jury was aware of a NOcontact order and that the police hadbeen to the apartment in the past there was no other evidence to the effect of chronic domestic violence penpetrated by Mr. Banfield. There was nothing in the necond that show Actitioner had any prior arrests or convictions with exception to the NOcontact order.

Testimony frustrated the entire purpose-

of the resting in timines which was to shield the sury from any further evidence of domestic violence on anyother occasion against Ms. Curtis. RP. 199, 204, 225-26. Because it accomplished exactly what the nuling in limine wasdesigned to prevent Ms. Curtis's testimony was not cumulative. see-Escalona, 49 WN. APP. , SUPra at 255, Levidence cannot be both cumulatives and prohibited by proper ruling inlimine). The introduction of prejudicial testimony is a serious irregularity when it violates a nuling in limine. State v. Thompson- go WN. App. 41, 46, 950 P.Zd -

977 (1998). It is an "extremely serious" irresularity when it exposes the jury to inadmissible hearsay or "other bad asts" evidence. Escalonas 49 WN. App. at 255

Chanacterized Mr. Banfield as havingChanacterized Mr. Banfield as havingPreviously assaulted Ms. Curtis onmultiple accasions on "quite often."

RR 224. This implyed that petitionerhad the propensity to commit all ofcrimes changed. See ER 403. ER LOG.

and 404(b): Escalonas Id. at 255-256.

No instruction would have cured thiserror.

However the count of Appeals -

held that it was "unclear whether Curtis's testimans violated the Inial count's pretrial nuling because the ruling was ambiguous." Unpublished Op, at 11-12.

Mr. Banfield asks this Count to accept review pursuant RAP 13,4[b]()-(3),(4).

I. PETITIONER RECEIVED

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

OF COUNSELS THEREBY

DEPRIVING HIM OF RIGHTS

GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH

AMENDMENT TO THE

LINITED STATES CONSTITUTION

Mn. Banfield was constructively deprived of his constitutional right tocounsel. under United States v. Cronics
466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Et. 2039, 80 2.Ed 2d657 (1984). Strickland v. Washington-

466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d-To sale swand the fundamental 674 (1984). right to a fair trial a criminal defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland, 4660 U.S. at 686. A. defendant has a night to the assistance of counsel at every critical stage of acriminal proceeding. State v. Robinsons 153 WN. 2d 689,694,107 R3d 90 (2005). It no actual assistance for the accused's defense is provided then the constitutional grantee has been violated. Id.

The right to Loursel requires thatthe defense participate fully and fairly
in the adversary fact finding process.
Herning v. New York, 422 U.S. 853, 858.

95 s.ct. 2550, 45 L.Ed. 2d 593 (1975): State -V. Penez-Cervantes 141 WN. 2d 468, 490, 6-P.3d NEO [2000]. "[III course | entirely fails to subject the prosecution's ease to meanineful adversarial testing. thenthere has been adenial of Sixth Amendment rights that makes the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable." Cravia 460 U.S. at 659. Constitutionally effective advocacy is therefore definedby counsel's ability to function as a loyaland forceful advocate for the defendant. Nix V. Whiteside - 475 LIS. 157,189, 106-S.C.L. 988, 89 L.Ed. 2d 123 (1986).

IN the instant case, Mr. Banfield suffered a Sixth Amendment violation for which precisable is presumed under aronic because his trial attenney entirely failed to present a cosent defense and did not subject the State to any advensarial testing what spever.

However the Court of appeals

held that counsel's performance did
Not deprive Banfield of a defense.

Unoublished Opinions at 16. Therefore,

there are significant constitutional—

questions, and an issue of substantial—

public interest worthy of this Court's—

neview. RAP 13.4 (b)(3)(4).

3. PETETEONER WAS DEPRIVED OF THE SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO SPEEDY TRIAL.
IN VIOLATION OF THE LINITED STATES CONSTITUTION

<u>See State v. Ross</u> 8 wn. App. 2d 928,
932, 441 P.3d 1254 (2019); <u>State v. Ollivier</u>
178 Wn. 2d 813, 826, 312 P.3d 1 L2013).

The right to speedy thial is thisgered when charges are filed on the defendant is annested, whichever comes first.

State v. Iniquez 143 WN. App. 845, 855, 180 P.3d 855, review granted, 164 WN. Zd

1025 (2008).

LINDER the United States Supreme

Count decision in <u>Banker V. Winso</u>, 407
U.S. 514, 529, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed. 2d
101 (1972), set out a balancine analysis
to defermine whether the defendant's

LONSTITUTIONAL right to speedy trial was

Violated. <u>Ollivier</u>, <u>suppa</u> at 827, -

(<u>citing</u> <u>bossett v. United States</u> 505-U.S. 647, 651-52, 112 S.C.t. 2686, 120 L.Ed.-2d. 520[1992)).

Four factors determine whether rights under the Constitution have been - violated: (1) the length of the delay (2) the reason for the delay: (3) whether - the defendant assented his night - to speedy trial and (4) prejudice to the defendant. Banker 407 U.S. at - 530.

Hene as to the first factor.

The State concedes. Unpublish Operat18.

The second Banker Lactor is the

reason for the delay. Id. at 827;

Doggett 505 U.S., at 651.

Here, the court of appeals

held that Mr. Banfield's conduct was the

more significant cause for the delay,

UNrublished Op, at 20. This is an

unreasonable determination based on
facts of this case.

the state conzedes that the third <u>Banken</u> factor weighs in the Petitionen's favor. <u>Id.</u>

As to the fourth Banken factor.

Presidice is presumed. The Lount

of Appeals displaced. Id.

IN Balancing the four factors.

The count of appeals emoveously held-

that the factors weigh in the State's favor. Unpublished Do. at 22. Hence I there are significant constitutional questions and an issue of substantial public interest worths of this Court's - review. RAP 13.4(b)(3)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

This Count should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part E. DATED: January 8 2025.