FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/10/2025 9:24 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 103561-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

ERIC CHARLES BANFIELD,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN P. JURVAKAINEN Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney

AYLSA DRAPER-DEHART / WSBA #61031 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

> HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91091

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

In a unanimous decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed Banfield's convictions. Slip Opinion at 23. On the motion for mistrial based on Curtis's testimony, the court held that it was not clear "whether the trial court's ruling on Banfield's motion in limine actually precluded Curtis's testimony." Slip Opinion 12. But even if it "violated the trial court's pretrial rulings, that irregularity was not serious and had no prejudicial effect given the weight of the evidence." *Id.* Third, the court noted that the "irregularity could have been cured with an instruction." Slip Opinion at 13.

Next Banfield argued that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, because his counsel did not move to suppress evidence. The Court of Appeals conducted the following analysis:

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Banfield must show both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, I 04 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. Bertrand*, 3 Wn. 3d I 16,128,546 P.3d 1020

(2024). We strongly presume that counsel's performance was effective. *Id.* at 130. To rebut this presumption, a defendant bears the burden of showing there was no possible legitimate trial tactic that would explain counsel's performance. *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).

Slip opinion at 14. After reviewing the record, the court held that Banfield was unable to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Slip Opinion at 16.

Finally, Banfield argued that the trial court violated his right to a speedy trial because of the 23-month delay. *Id.* The court reviewed the procedural record and noted that "courts and prosecutors have "the primary burden" to ensure that cases are brought to trial." *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514,529, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972). Slip Opinion at 17.

Under the *Barker* balancing test the court found that the length of delay did require analysis, "Banfield's conduct was the more significant cause of the delay." The "prejudice from delay factor weighs heavily against Banfield." *Id* at 18 and 21. In balancing all the factors the court concluded "that the balancing

analysis weighs in favor of the State... the trial court did not violate Banfield's right to a speedy trial." *Id* at 22.

Banfield now petitions this Court for review.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE PETITION FAILS TO RAISE GROUNDS UNDER RAP 13.4(B).

Because Banfield's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Banfield claims the Court of Appeals' decisions are in conflict with decisions made by the Supreme Court, that there is a significant question of law under the Washinton or United States Constitution and it involves a substantial public interest that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4). He does not claim grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict a Supreme Court decision, there is not a significant question of law under the Washington State or United States Constitution and there is not a substantial public interest to be determined by the Supreme Court. Because Banfield fails to raise grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b), review should not be granted.

VI. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Banfield was not prejudiced as the statement "was not serious and had no prejudicial effect given the weight of the evidence." The trial

court was correct that a curative instruction could have been issued but a mistrial was not. Slip Opinion 12. A trial court's denial of a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 177, 225 P.3d 973 (2010).

A mistrial should be granted only when the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can ensure that the defendant will be tried fairly. *Id.* A denial of a motion for mistrial should be overturned only when there is a substantial likelihood that the prejudice affected the verdict. *Id.*

When a trial irregularity occurs, the reviewing court must decide its prejudicial effect. *Id.* That court will examine (1) its seriousness; (2) whether it involved cumulative evidence; and (3) whether the trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard it. *Id.* Ultimately, the question the court must answer is whether, in light of all the evidence, the improper testimony was so prejudicial that the defendant did not get a fair trial. *Id.* at 177,

225 P.3d 973 (citing State v. Thompson, 90 Wn.App. 41, 47, 950 P.2d 977 (1998)).

In *Gamble*, the Supreme Court held the investigating officer's testimony was not serious or cumulative enough to justify a mistrial even though he twice testified in violation of a pretrial order by mentioning the defendant's booking file and booking process. 168 Wn.2d at 178-79. There the witness was a professional witness, which increased the seriousness of the irregularity. However, the court found that mentioning the booking file and the booking process did not identify any specific prior criminal conduct. *Id.* at 178. Ultimately, because of the strength of the State's case, including observations of the defendant from an independent witness, the court found there was not an abuse of discretion. Id. at 179-80.

In this case, law enforcement officers were not precluded from testifying about their knowledge of an active protective order and their prior responses. RP 204: 2-10. Curtis herself was not prohibited from discussing those incidents. In fact, no motion was made to curtail her testimony. Her answer was non-responsive to the question asked. Non-responsive answers to questions do not justify mistrials. *See Thompson*, 90 Wn.App. at 46-47, 950 P.2d 977 (1998); *see also State v. Peters*, 10 Wn.App.2d 1028, *Not Reported* (2019)(unsolicited and non-responsive testimony from the victim was not so serious as to justify mistrial).

Banfield argues *State v. Escalona*, 49 Wn.App. 251, 742 P.2d 190 (1987) controls this case. However, unlike in *Escalona*, the jurors were not informed that Banfield had prior assault convictions against another person, or even Curtis herself; they did not hear he was violent generally. In *Escalona*, when cross examined by defense counsel, the victim informed the jury of the defendant's prior convictions for assault with a deadly weapon, a knife, like the offense against him, stating: "[defendant] already has a record and had stabbed someone." 49 Wn.App. at 253-55. Because the State's case in *Escalona* was weak, the statements

regarding his violent behavior could not be defused by any admonition from the court. *Id.* at 256.

Unlike *Escalona*, here, the evidence was irrefutable. An independent witness observed Banfield commit the assault. The protection order was entered into evidence before testimony. And Banfield was found hiding within a locked closet in an apartment he was prohibited from entering, suggesting consciousness of guilt.

As the trial court opined, Curtis's statement was minimal compared with the evidence already entered. The statement was non-responsive. The statement did not materially affect Banfield's trial. Moreover, the statement was not made in violation of any motion in limine. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied defense counsel's motion for mistrial. The Court of Appeals ruling should be left to stand.

The Court of Appeals was correct to first address whether there was an abuse of discretion. Slip Opinion at 10. After

determining there was not, the Court of Appeals next assessed if the testimony warranted a mistrial, which it did not. *Id* at 11-13. After review of the record, the trial court decision, the Court of Appeals' decision was in line with decisions made by the Supreme Court, the Washington and United States Constitution and there was no substantial public interest other than following the laws already set forth by the courts. The petition for review should be denied with regards to issue one as it fails to provide grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b).

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR VII. REVIEW BECAUSE THE APPELLATE COURT DID ERR REGARDING THE **EFFECTIVE** NOT ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM AND THERE THE **CONFLICT** UNDER NOT Α OR UNITED STATES WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION OR A SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, Banfield must make two showings: (1) his counsel's representation was deficient or fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) his

counsel's deficient representation prejudiced him, or there is a reasonable probability that, except for his counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2-prong test in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Competency of counsel is determined based upon the entire record. State v. White, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972) (citing State v. Gilmore, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969)).

There is a strong presumption counsel's representation was effective. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995); *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226, 743 P.2d 816. Where, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 335, 804 P.2d 10, *cert. denied*, 501 U.S. 1237, 111 S.Ct. 2867, 115 L.Ed.2d 1033 (1991); *State v. Blight*, 89 Wash.2d

38, 45–46, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977). It is Banfield's burden to show deficient representation based on the record. At which he fails.

Banfield argues this case falls within the narrow exception set in U.S. v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984). Cronic recognized a limited set of circumstances that were so likely to prejudice a defendant that litigation was unjustified. 466 U.S. at 658, 104 S.Ct. 2039. Only when one of three circumstances applies will prejudice be presumed and the defendant relieved of his burden under Strickland. Id. The first is when the defendant has been completely denied counsel at a critical stage of the proceedings. 466 U.S. at 659-60, 104 S.Ct. 2039. The second is when the circumstances are such that the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is minimal. *Id.* The final situation, and the circumstance Banfield argues applies in his case, arises when counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing. Id., 466 U.S. at 659, 104 S.Ct. 2039.

In *Bell v. Cone*, 535 U.S. 685, 696, 122 S.Ct. 1843, 152 L.Ed.2d 914 (2002), the Supreme Court defined what it means when counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing. The attorney's failure must be complete. 535 U.S. at 697, 122 S.Ct. 1843. The exception is so narrow it should only be applied to those cases in which defense counsel was so uninvolved that the attorney may as well have not been present in court at all. *State v. McCabe*, 25 Wn.App.2d 456, 463, 523 P.3d 271 (2023).

The Washington State Supreme Court has discussed *Cronic* only once and in that case it preferred to evaluate the 15 claims of ineffectiveness under *Strickland*. *In Re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). The appellate court in *McCabe*, applied *Cronic* only because appellant affirmatively declined the application of *Strickland*. 25 Wn.App.2d at 466, 523 P.3d 271. There, McCabe claimed he was constructively denied assistance of counsel when his attorney did not make an opening statement, failed to alert the court he was falling asleep, did not

object to inadmissible evidence, did not cross-examine many of the State's witnesses, among other issues outside of trial. *Id.* at 466. Even these failures did not meet a *Cronic* claim, which requires defense counsel to be "absent or completely non-participatory." *Id.*

Banfield's counsel actively participated throughout the entire process of trial. He made relevant motions, argued for mistrial, cross-examined the only witness who had no first-hand observations of his client inside an apartment from which his client was prohibited to enter, and made reasonable arguments.

The Court of Appeals first addressed Banfield's claim by reviewing the *Strickland* test. Slip Opinion at 14. After review of the record, counsel's performance, and the evidence produced in trial, the Court of Appeals held that Banfield could not show that there would have been a change in the outcome of the trial, and that the claim failed on the second prong of the *Strickland* test even if the first had been overcome. Finally, as Banfield's counsel "clearly participated in the trial... counsel's performance

did not deprive Banfield entirely of a defense," under *Cronic*. Slip Opinion at 16.

There are no significant constitutional questions that have not already been addressed and carefully analyzed in this case. Case law clearly provides what conduct can rise to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel for there to be a constitutional question. That case law was applied, the Court of Appeals provided the analysis of the case and the law to the facts presented. Additionally, there is not an issue of substantial public interest that is not already addressed by case law. Banfield fails to show grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b). The petition for review should be denied with regards to issue two.

VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE SPEEDY TRIAL REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution both protect a criminal defendant's right to a speedy trial. The analysis of the rights they provide is substantially the same. *State*

v. Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d 813, 826, 312 P.3d 1 (2013). The right to a speedy trial attaches when a charge is filed or an arrest is made, whichever occurs first. State v. Lee, 188 Wn.2d 473, 498, 396 P.3d 316 (2017); State v. Shemesh, 187 Wn. App. 136, 144, 347 P.3d 1096 (2015). If a defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial is violated, the remedy is dismissal of the charges with prejudice. State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 282, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).

Like the Sixth Amendment speedy trial right, the State right is consistent with delays and subject to the circumstances. Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d at 826 (citing Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 522, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972)). We use the balancing test set out by the United States Supreme Court in Barker to determine whether a constitutional violation has occurred. Id. at 827. That test makes four separate inquiries: first, whether the delay before trial was uncommonly long; next, whether the government or the criminal defendant is more to blame for that delay; then, whether, in due course, the defendant

asserted the right to a speedy trial; and, finally, whether the defendant suffered prejudice as the delay's result. *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 651, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 120 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1992) (citing *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530). The delay between Banfield's first appearance and the final trial was long, it took 23 months to bring the case to trial. However, many of the continuances were at Banfield's request or for his benefit.

The second factor asks the Court to examine each party's level of responsibility or reason for that delay, and to assign weight to the reasons. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 294, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Where the defendant requests or agrees to the delay and therefore "is deemed to have waived his speedy trial rights as long as the waiver is knowing and voluntary." *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 284 (*citing Barker*, 407 U.S. at 529). If the government deliberately delays the trial to frustrate the defense, this conduct will be weighted heavily against the State. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531. But if the government has a valid reason for the

delay, such as a missing witness, then the valid reason may justify a reasonable delay. *Id*.

The State did not create the COVID pandemic and cannot be held responsible for the superior court's approach for the safety of the broader public. *See* CrR 3.3(e)(8). There are only two delays that can be attributed to the State. The first occurred after learning of a material witness's medical procedure, and good cause was found for that continuance. The second occurred when the State's independent witness and her child contracted COVID and was unavailable to testify. The unavailability of a key witness is a valid reason for a continuance. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 294, *citing Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. 2182. The trial court found good cause existed to continue the trial because of their absences.

Conversely, several delays were the direct result of Banfield's behavior. Banfield failed to appear at his trial on December 2, 2021. Failed to appear for his readiness hearing on May 3, 2022. His speedy trial period restarted in both instances.

State v. Branstetter, 85 Wn.App. 123, 129, 935 P.2d 620 (1997)(under CrR 3.3(d)(2) and CrR 3.4, speedy trial period restarts when an arraigned defendant is absent from a hearing he was ordered to attend). Before those absences, he required new counsel after obtaining new charges. CrR 3.3(c)(2)(vii). Additionally, Banfield himself requested continuances. CrR 3.3(e)(3) and CrR 3.3(f).

The third factor considers whether Banfield asserted his right for speedy trial. Banfield did assert his right for speedy trial, however, those assertions must be objectively examined in light of his other conduct. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 284. Banfield sporadically asserted his right to a speedy trial, however he also made his own requests to continue trial as well as missed both his date for trial and his date for readiness or trial setting.

The fourth factor determines whether there was any prejudice to the defendant as a result of the delay. *Id.* Banfield must show actual prejudice to establish a constitutional violation of his speedy trial rights. *State v. Ross*, 8 Wn.App.928, 955, 441

P.3d 1254 (2019). A showing of actual prejudice "may consist of (1) oppressive pretrial incarceration, (2) the defendant's anxiety and concern, and (3) the possibility that dimming memories and loss of exculpatory evidence will impair the defense." *Id.* at 955. The last interest is the most serious, because a defendant's inability to adequately prepare their case "'skews the fairness of the entire system.'" *Id.*

There is no prejudice because none of the possibilities were alleged by Banfield at the time of his assertions. He was not in custody on this matter, spending only a brief time in jail after he obtained new charges. There is no evidence on the record that Banfield suffered constitutionally significant anxiety. Any claim Banfield may make of undue anxiety is generally immaterial unless a defendant can demonstrate a "special harm which distinguishes his case from that of any other arrestee awaiting trial." *United Staes v. Dirden*, 38 F.3d 1131, 1138 (10th Cir. 1994).

The Court of Appeals reviewed the case along with the procedural history and applied the *Barker* balancing test. The Court of Appeals found that the length of delay did require analysis, "Banfield's conduct was the more significant cause of the delay," that Banfield did assert his right to a speedy trial, however, the "prejudice from delay factor weighs heavily against Banfield." Slip Opinion at 18 and 21. In balancing all the factors the court concluded "that the balancing analysis weighs in favor of the State... the trial court did not violate Banfield's right to a speedy trial." Id at 22. After review of the record, application of the Barker test and analysis the Court of Appeals' decision should be left to stand. The Court of Appeals' decision was in line with decisions made by the Supreme Court, the Washington and United States Constitution and there was no substantial public interest other than following the laws already set forth by the courts. The petition for review should be denied with regards to issue three. Banfield fails to show grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

IX. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals reviewed the issues presented with the correct standard of review. The petition for review should be denied.